LEAD MEMBER FOR EDUCATION AND INCLUSION, SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL
NEEDS AND DISABILITY
DECISIONS to be made by the Lead Member for Education and Inclusion, Special Educational
Needs and Disability, Councillor Bob Standley.
MONDAY, 13 SEPTEMBER AT 2:00 PM
CC1, COUNTY HALL, LEWES
++ Please note, the Lead Member will not be present in person, but will be taking the
decisions remotely++

AGENDA
1

Decisions made by the Lead Cabinet Member on 22 July 2021 (Pages 3 - 4)

2

Disclosures of interests
Disclosure by all Members present of personal interests in matters on the Agenda, the
nature of any interest and whether the Member regards the interest as prejudicial under
the terms of the Code of Conduct

3

Urgent items
Notification of items which the Lead Member considers to be urgent and propose to
take at the end of the appropriate part of the Agenda

4

Update to home to school transport policies for mainstream and SEND pupils (Pages 5
- 36)

5

Excellence for All strategy 2021 – 2023 (Pages 37 - 48)

6

Lowering the age range at Cradle Hill Community Primary School (Pages 49 - 52)

7

Any urgent items previously notified under agenda item 3

PHILIP BAKER
Assistant Chief Executive
County Hall, St Anne’s Crescent
LEWES BN7 1UE

3 September 2021

Contact
Aaron Sams – Democratic Services Officer
Tel: 01273 335274
Email: aaron.sams@eastsussex.gov.uk

NOTE: As part of the County Council’s drive to increase accessibility to its public meetings, this
meeting will be broadcast live on its website. The broadcast is accessible at
www.eastsussex.gov.uk/yourcouncil/webcasts/default.html
eastsussex.gov.uk

Agenda Item 1
LEAD MEMBER FOR EDUCATION AND INCLUSION, SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS AND
DISABILITY
MINUTES of a meeting of the Lead Member for Education and Inclusion, Special Educational
Needs and Disability held at County Hall, Lewes on 22 July 2021.
++The Lead Member was not present in person, but took the decisions remotely++

Councillor Kathryn Field and Councillor Sam Adeniji spoke on item 4 (see minute 33)
30

DECISIONS MADE BY THE LEAD CABINET MEMBER ON 26 APRIL 2021

30.1 The Lead Member approved as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 26
April 2021.
31

DISCLOSURES OF INTERESTS

31.1

There were none.

32

URGENT ITEMS

32.1

There were none.

33

IN-YEAR ADMISSION ARRANGEMENTS 2021-22- PERMISSION TO CONSULT

33.1 The Lead Member considered a report by the Director of Children’s Services seeking
permission to consult with schools on an in-year variation to admission arrangements, to vary
in-year arrangements and introduce admissions co-ordination for 2021-22 as required by the
Schools Admissions Code 2021.
33.2

RESOLVED – to

1) approve consultation with schools on amendments to in-year admission arrangements as set
out in Appendix 1 of the report (this will require an In-Year Variation to be consulted on at the
same time)
2) approve consultation on the introduction of a co-ordinated scheme of admissions for in-year
applications as set out in Appendix 2 of the report.
Reason
33.3 Consultation approval is being sought so that East Sussex County Council can meet its
consultation requirements for the changes expected by 31 October 2021, as set out in the
report.
34
PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO THE SCHOOL TERM AND HOLIDAY DATES FOR THE
ACADEMIC YEAR 2021/2022
34.1 The Lead Member considered a report on the proposed amendment to the school term
and holiday dates for the academic year 2021/22.
34.2 RESOLVED – to approve that the academic year 2021/22 finishes one day early on,
Thursday 21 July 2022.
Reason

Page 3

34.3 The additional bank holiday on 3 June 2022, to celebrate the Queens Platinum Jubilee
falls within the East Sussex school term and holiday dates for 2021/22. The expectation is that
arrangements will be put in place to ensure that the schools’ workforce benefit from the
additional bank holiday if the date falls in the school holidays. The school term and holiday
calendar for 2021/22 will be updated to reflect the decision. Schools, relevant services and other
key stakeholders will be notified of the decision.
35
PROPOSED RE-DESIGNATION OF SPECIAL EDUCATIONAL NEEDS FACILITY AT
WALLANDS COMMUNITY PRIMARY SCHOOL.
35.1 The Lead Member considered a report by the Director of Children’s Services seeking
approval to publish a statutory notice in respect of a proposal to extend the designation of the
specialist facility at Wallands Community Primary School.
35.2

RESOLVED – to

1) authorise the publication of a statutory notice in respect of a proposal to extend the
designation of the specialist facility at Wallands Community Primary School; and
2) delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to amend the proposal prior to its
publication if required.
Reason
35.3 The local authority wishes to extend the designation of the specialist facility at Wallands
Community Primary School to ensure it can meet the needs of local pupils with Special
Educational Needs, reflecting the changes being seen to the type of Special Educational Needs
being presented. Feedback from the initial consultation was largely positive, with 11 out of 15
respondents being supportive

Page 4

Agenda Item 4
Report to:

Lead Member for Education and Inclusion, Special Educational
Needs and Disabilities

Date:

13 September 2021

By:

Director of Children's Services

Title:

Home to School Transport Policy review

Purpose:

To consider the recommended changes to the home to school
transport policies

__________________________________________________________________
RECOMMENDATION
The Lead Member is recommended to review and approve proposed amendments to
the policies listed below:




School transport policy
16 to 19 SEND travel assistance policy
Post 19 SEND travel assistance policy

__________________________________________________________________

1.

Background information

1.1
East Sussex County Council (the Council) has the following policies with regard to
Home to School Transport provision:


School transport policy - This is the overarching policy setting out the
Council’s current home to school transport policy, with a focus on the
transport the Council provides to mainstream pupils.



SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disability) travel assistance policy for
statutory-aged pupils – Documents in more detail provisions for the Council’s
SEND clients.



16 to 19 SEND travel assistance policy – Documents the home to school
transport provision provided to those aged 16 to 19 with SEND and how their
eligibility is assessed.



Post 19 SEND travel assistance policy - Documents the home to school
transport provision provided to those aged over 19 with SEND and how their
eligibility is assessed.

1.2
The current policies above can be found on the County Council’s
website:https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/educationandlearning/schools/transport/strategy/dow
nload/

Page 5

1.3
The main statutory provisions relating to home to school transport are contained
within s.508 of the Education Act 1996 and its subsections (as amended). The
recommended review/appeals process is set out in statutory guidance: Home to school
travel and transport guidance: statutory guidance for local authorities; July 2014; particularly
at Annex 2. This can be found online at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hometo-school-travel-and-transport-guidance.
1.4
The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) has powers under
the Local Government Act 1974 to investigate complaints and issue reports concerning
allegations of maladministration or service failure. Details of complaints made to the LGSCO
are reported to members at Cabinet and Council meetings through the Council quarterly
monitoring report. The Governance Committee also receives an annual customer services
report which sets out the annual report received from the LGSCO.
1. 5
The LGSCO has considered the Council’s appeals process for handling applications
for home to school transport. They have recommended that the following improvements are
made to the appeals process. Set out below is a description of the current appeal process
and the suggested revised process:


Two stage appeal process: For SEND transport applications, the current process
sets out that discretionary cases are first heard by the Inclusion Special Educational
Needs & Disabilities (ISEND) Travel Panel consisting of officers. If applicants wish to
appeal the decision, the next stage is currently a review by the Discretionary
Transport Appeal Panel (DTAP) consisting of 3 cross-party elected members. The
statutory guidance recommends a two-stage appeal process whereby a decision is
first made by an officer. If the applicants wish to challenge the officer decision, the
stage 1 review is undertaken by a senior officer. Following our new process, a stage
1 review would be undertaken by the ISEND Travel Panel, which already consists of
senior officers. The stage 2 review is then reviewed by DTAP. These amended
policies bring the Council processes in line with the recommendations in the statutory
guidance.



Allow verbal representations at stage 2 appeal hearings: The current Council policy
states that it is not possible for parents/carers to attend appeal panel meetings in
person. The revised policies will allow for applicants to request to provide verbal
representations to the Appeal Panel in exceptional circumstances where a
learner/parent/carer would face significant disadvantage in making their appeal
without this. It will be possible for applicants to request to make verbal
representations on the stage 2 appeal form and the request will be considered by the
supporting officer. It is expected that the verbal representation will be made via a
telephone call or video call for a fixed duration at the start of the Appeal Panel
hearing.

1.6
While the policies were being reviewed, the opportunity was taken to review the
wording and formatting of the whole documents. Additional minor amendments have been
made to increase clarity, improve readability, and increase accessibility, for example when
being read by a screen reader. There has been no material change to the substance of the
policies apart from the two areas above.

Page 6

1.7
The Special Educational Needs and Disabilities travel assistance policy for statutoryaged pupils will be presented for approval at the next Lead Member meeting. The changes
to this policy, including those stated above, are still being finalised.
2.

Conclusion and reasons for recommendations

2.1
The Lead Member is recommended to review and approve proposed amendments to
the policies listed below which include an amended appeals process and other minor changes
which assist with accessibility and readability.




School transport policy
16 to 19 SEND travel assistance policy
Post 19 SEND travel assistance policy

ALISON JEFFERY
Director of Children’s Services

Contact Officers:
Jo Miles (mainstream policy)
Tel. No. 01273 481911
Email: jo.miles@eastsussex.gov.uk
Alison Mills (SEND policies)
Tel. No: 01273 336670
Emails: alison.mills@eastsussex.gov.uk

Appendices
Appendix 1 - Revised School transport policy
Appendix 2 - Revised 16 to 19 SEND travel assistance policy
Appendix 3 - Revised Post-19 SEND travel assistance policy

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1

School transport policy
Last updated: September 2021 (Appeal procedure modified)

Document summary
This document sets out the East Sussex County Council’s current home to school transport policy
for school aged students who live in the county. This policy follows what we need to do by law, and
it should be noted that it could be subject to change in the future. Therefore, this policy does not
amount to a legitimate expectation that any service currently offered will continue to be offered.

Contents
Introduction

Page 2

1

Qualifying criteria for home to school transport

Page 2

1.1

Statutory walking distance

Page 2

1.2

Route safety

Page 2

1.3

Extended rights eligibility (low-income grounds)

Page 3

1.4

Pupils with medical conditions

Page 3

1.5

Accompaniment

Page 3

2

Types of travel assistance for eligible children

Page 4

2.1

Using the bus and rail network

Page 4

2.2

Mileage payments

Page 4

2.3

Travel by taxi or minibus

Page 4

2.4

Service standards for hired transport

Page 5

3

Application process

Page 5

4

Review of transport provision

Page 5

5

When transport is not supplied

Page 5

6

Vacant seats scheme

Page 6

7

Support in further education

Page 6

8

Appeal process

Page 7

9

Complaints

Page 8

ESCC school transport policy September 2021

Page 9

Page 1 of 8

Introduction
Parents and carers have a legal responsibility to ensure their children attend school regularly. This
includes arranging travel to and from school, meeting the costs of this and accompanying their
child(ren) as necessary.
In some cases, the Council has a legal obligation to provide suitable free school transport. Transport
will be provided in the most cost effective and appropriate way for the child’s needs. This policy
summarises the categories of eligible children, the provision offered, circumstances when assistance
is not provided, and how to appeal a decision.
Separate documents set out the provision for children and young people with Special Educational
Needs and Disabilities (SEND) of statutory school age (Reception to Year 11 pupils), young people
of sixth form age and adult learners. Find out more on our School transport policies download page.

1 Qualifying criteria for home to school transport
The following circumstances explain when transport assistance can be provided to children of
compulsory school age. If your situation does not meet the eligibility criteria, we are unable to
provide support.

1.1 Statutory walking distance
We will provide free transport between home and school for children over eight years of age who
live more than three miles away from their designated school, or two miles for children under eight
years of age. This is known as the statutory walking distance.
Distances are measured by the shortest available walking route using our Geographical
Information System, taking account of public footpaths.
The designated school is the school suitable to the child’s age and ability which serves the area in
which the child lives. If there is more than one school, this is the nearest school to the home which
is suitable for the child and at which a place is available (measured as above and not in a straight
line or any other method).

1.2 Route safety
This relates to children who live within the statutory walking distance and are attending their
designated school. Assessments do not determine whether a route is “safe” or “dangerous”. All
roads may be thought of as presenting some element of road safety risk, whether they are heavily
trafficked urban routes, or more lightly trafficked rural routes. Instead, the assessment determines
whether transport should be provided because a child’s only walking route presents specific road
safety hazards.
Where parents have reservations about the suitability of a route, the Road Safety Team will look
at the relationship between pedestrians and traffic and will make a formal assessment based on
national guidance. Issues surrounding personal security do not form part of the assessment and
the Council is able to assume that a child is accompanied by a responsible person. There is no
requirement for a route to be lit and temporary closures such as road works or flooding are not
considered. Assistance will not be provided if alternative routes are available within the statutory
walking distance.
Parents are responsible for ensuring their child has suitable clothes and equipment for the journey
(for example, boots, wet weather clothes, reflective bands, torch, etc) and national guidance is
quite clear that conditions such as muddy footpaths or lack of street lighting do not mean that a
route is not available. Available routes include crossing fields, wooded areas, bridleways, public
footpaths and public rights of way.

ESCC school transport policy September 2021

Page 10

Page 2 of 8

1.3 Extended rights eligibility (low-income grounds)
Free transport is provided to pupils entitled to free school meals or whose families receive the
maximum level of Working Tax Credit** in the following circumstances:
Primary age pupils – Children over eight whose designated school is more than two miles but
less than three miles from their home will continue to receive transport assistance if they are from a
low- income family.
Secondary age pupils – Children from low-income families will qualify for free transport to one of
their three nearest schools from where they live, provided the school attended is more than two
miles but less than six miles away. Distances up to two miles are measured using the shortest
available walking route whereas the six mile upper distance limit is measured using roads only.
Secondary age pupils attending church aided schools – Children from low-income families
attending the nearest church school preferred on grounds of religion or belief, will qualify for free
transport to that school if it is more than two miles but less than fifteen miles away from home.
Confirmation of baptismal status or support from the parish priest or minister is required.
Secondary age pupils attending selective schools – Children from low-income families
attending the nearest selective school will qualify for free transport to that school if it is more than
two miles but less than fifteen miles away from home. (A ‘selective school’ admits students on the
basis of some sort of selection criteria, usually academic)
**You can tell if you are in receipt of the maximum WTC from your tax credit award notice issued
by HM Revenue and Customs. Part 2 entitled ‘How we work out your tax credits’ includes details of
WTC elements other than childcare. It then lists ‘any reduction due to your income’. You are in
receipt of the maximum where the reduction shows as £0. Alternatively, you will be on the
maximum if your assessed income is below the £6565 threshold.
You can apply online at
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/educationandlearning/schools/transport/free/form-travel-assistance/
If you do not have access to the internet, please contact the Admissions Team on 0300 330 9472.

1.4 Pupils with medical conditions
Some children may be unable to walk even a short distance to school. We may be able to provide
travel assistance if all other solutions have been investigated. For example, if arrangements with
another parent or discussions with the school about travel options have been unable to provide a
solution.
To qualify for help your child must be attending their designated school. Additionally, we will need
to establish that your child cannot be reasonably expected to walk to school. To assist in
determining this, we will need to see medical evidence from a consultant or GP confirming your
child’s medical condition and any relevant facts regarding or impacting upon his or her mobility.
Please note that a fee may be charged for supplying the medical evidence and you would need to
pay any costs. We will also need to know how long transport assistance is required and an
indication of what type of travel is appropriate. If transport assistance is agreed, your case will be
reviewed regularly.
Go to eastsussex.gov.uk/educationandlearning/schools/transport/free/medical-condition/ for an
application form.

1.5 Accompaniment
The general expectation is that a child will be accompanied by a parent where necessary, unless
there is a good reason why it is not reasonable to expect the parent to do so, for example, if a
parent’s disability prevents them from accompanying their child to school.

ESCC school transport policy September 2021

Page 11

Page 3 of 8

If you are prevented from accompanying your children on the home to school journey because of a
disability*, we may be able to provide travel assistance if all other solutions have been
investigated. For example, if arrangements with another parent or discussions with the school
about travel options have been unable to provide a solution.
* a physical or mental impairment that has a 'substantial' and 'long-term' negative effect on your
ability to do normal daily activities.
To receive help, your child must be attending their designated school. We will then look at the
distance to school. Where the distance is very short, assistance may not be agreed, especially for
a child in Year 5 or 6.
You will need to complete an application form (see paragraph 1.4) and attach medical evidence
from a consultant or doctor which must not be older than three months from the date of application.
Please note that a fee may be charged for supplying the medical evidence and you would need to
pay any costs. Transport cannot be arranged until the medical evidence is provided. If transport is
agreed, your case will be reviewed regularly.

2 Types of travel assistance for eligible children
2.1 Using the bus and rail network
It is for the Council to decide on the travel arrangements available to get pupils between home and
school at the beginning and end of the school day. In most cases, we provide a ticket for use on
public transport or provide a seat on a hired coach.
Students are collected as near to their home as possible, although they may have to walk a
‘reasonable’ distance to meet the transport. This will not usually be more than one mile from the
home address. The responsibility for ensuring a child’s safety in getting to and from the picking up
point rests with the parent or carer.
Best practice suggests that the maximum each way length of journey for a child of primary school
age to be 45 minutes and for secondary school age 75 minutes. For children with SEN and/or
disabilities, journeys may be more complex and a shorter journey time, although desirable, may not
always be possible especially if the school is situated outside of the county.

2.2 Mileage payments
If there is no suitable public transport or hired vehicle, parents willing to make their own travel
arrangements will receive help with the cost of two return journeys a day. This is based on the
distance between home and school. Payment is made on a family basis at the rate of 25p per mile
since the cost will be the same for two or more children, with changes to this cost if children are at
different schools.
This is not available to parents who prefer to make their own arrangements to transport their child
to their designated school if public transport or a hired vehicle is available.

2.3 Travel by taxi or minibus
In cases where the home address is not served by public transport, hired transport will be provided
to get pupils between home and school at the beginning and end of the school day. Once
authorised, new transport solutions can take up to 10 working days to organise.
In the morning, you will need to have your child ready at the agreed collection time. Drivers are
required to wait for five minutes from the agreed time before leaving. It is also the responsibility of
the parent or carer to get the child into the vehicle and the school’s duty to get the child from the
vehicle into the school building.
In the afternoon, you will need to make sure that a responsible person is at home to receive your
child at the agreed time. Drivers are required to wait for five minutes after the agreed drop-off time
before leaving, as delays could impact other children and their families. Failure to make sure that a
ESCC school transport policy September 2021

Page 12

Page 4 of 8

responsible person is at home to receive the child may result in the child being taken to a safe
place. Costs associated with looking after or transporting your child due to a parent or carer not
being ready to receive the child will be passed on to the family. It is also the parent or carer’s
responsibility to collect their child from the safe place or arrange and pay for their travel home.

2.4 Service standards for hired transport
Licensing and training of drivers and escorts
Drivers of coaches will possess PCV licenses. Taxi drivers will have been approved by the local
Borough or District Council licensing officers. The County Council offers training to drivers and
escorts to support them in their role, including additional guidance about individual pupil’s needs.
Disclosure and Barring Service
All drivers and passenger assistants of taxis, minibuses and hired coaches on Council
commissioned transport are subject to a DBS check. This does not currently apply to those driving
public transport.
Suitable vehicles and equipment
Vehicles used to transport children will be appropriate to the needs of the child. Where children
need to be transported in their wheelchairs, a specialist vehicle will be provided. Other essential
items of equipment will also be transported.
Contract information
All parents or carers will be provided with detailed information about the travel arrangements if
assistance is provided. Such as: driver name and phone number, pick up and drop off times, and
handover arrangements.
Monitoring operator performance
If parents have any concerns about the service being provided, they should contact staff in the
Transport Hub in the Communities, Economy and Transport Department so that the concerns can
be raised with the provider of the transport service. Please phone 01273 335067. Service
performance is subject to a contract between the operator and the Council.

3 Application process
Eligibility for children of compulsory school age based on age and distance and route safety
(sections 1.1 and 1.2) is assessed when school places are allocated. An application is required if
assistance is being sought because of extended rights/low-income grounds and medical conditions
(sections 1.3 and 1.4).

4 Review of transport provision
We will make regular checks to ensure the eligibility criteria continue to be met although you should
inform us immediately if you move address or your child changes school. Failure to inform us of a
change of circumstances may result in you having to pay back unused portions of rail or bus season
tickets.
The mode of travel being used to provide assistance will also be reviewed regularly to make sure
that the service provided continues to be appropriate for the child’s needs. It is for the Council to
decide what is a suitable transport arrangement.

5 When transport is not supplied
Transport services other than at the start or end of the school day
Our duty is to provide transport to get children to and from school at the beginning and end of the
school day. It is the responsibility of parents or carers to arrange and pay for transport at other
times. For example, we do not provide transport for:
ESCC school transport policy September 2021

Page 13

Page 5 of 8













Medical appointments
Specific exam timetables
Pre-course visits or ‘taster’ days
Breakfast or after-school clubs
Parents’ evenings

Work experience or placement
Extra-curricular activities
School trips or educational visits
Fixed-term exclusions
Off- site educational placements

Independent or private schools (including nurseries)
Assistance is not given to children attending schools in the private sector unless the placement has
been made by the Inclusion and Special Educational Needs & Disabilities team and transport has
been recommended by a designated officer.
More than one home address
We only accept responsibility for the transport of children between their main residence and
school. If children have more than one address, a decision needs to be made as to which address
the children live. This would usually be where most school nights are spent but may include factors
such as where the child is registered with a doctor, where the child benefit is paid to or which
address was used when the school place was offered.
Family circumstances
When looking at eligibility for travel assistance, we cannot take the following factors into
consideration: parent’s or carer’s working hours, parents or carers taking other children to other
schools, or parents or carers looking after other children.
Denominational primary schools
There is no policy to support children attending a denominational church aided primary school for
reasons of religion or faith.

6 Vacant seats scheme
Requests are sometimes received from parents who would like their children to use a school
coaches when they do not qualify for travel assistance. If spare places are available, a travel
permit can be purchased. This is only available on timetabled coaches.
Payment must be made in advance and the cost from September 2021 is £157 per term for a
secondary school student and £78.50 per term for primary school children (based on the six-term
year).
A second or subsequent child from the same family will be charged at £117.75 (secondary) and
£58.88 (primary). These costs are reviewed yearly.
Where there is more demand for places than seats available, the following priorities will be applied
to decide who can travel:
1. If students are attending their designated school but are not eligible for free school
transport, then those living furthest from the school are given priority.
2. If students are not attending their designated school, then those living nearest to the school
are given priority.
Places on hired vehicles cannot be guaranteed. If a statutory traveller needs a place on a hired
vehicle, non-statutory travellers may lose their place. Full details of the Vacant Seats Scheme are
available online at: www.eastsussex.gov.uk/schooltransport

7 Support in further education
All young people in England must continue in education or training, requiring them to continue until
at least their 18th birthday. This does not mean young people have to stay in school to continue in
ESCC school transport policy September 2021

Page 14

Page 6 of 8

education or training. Options include full-time study in a school, college or with a training provider.
They can also go into full-time work or volunteering combined with part-time education, training or
an apprenticeship. As a result, there is no obligation to provide free school transport that some
younger children are entitled to but there is a duty to provide travel assistance to learners of sixth
form age and adult learners if it is considered necessary.
For more details about what support might be available please visit School transport policies
The Post 16 Transport Policy Statement includes information on fares and concessions and a
summary of policy for learners with SEND. You can also view the full policies for Post 16 and adult
learners.

8 Appeal process
Everyone has the right to appeal if they disagree with the initial decision. In line with government
guidance, East Sussex County Council operates a two-stage appeal process. The following
process must be followed:
Stage 1 appeal:
A stage 1 appeal form needs to be completed to make an appeal.
All stage 1 appeals will be considered by a senior officer within Children’s Services who will:


consider the appeal form and any information provided in support of the appeal;



review the initial request for transport assistance including any supporting information
provided with the application;



any other correspondence used in reaching the initial decision.

The Senior Officer may consult other departments and/or agencies as necessary.
In addition to completing a stage 1 appeal form it is possible to telephone one of our officers who
will record your comments in writing and will pass this onto the senior officer for their consideration.
We shall aim to provide you with a decision from your stage 1 appeal within 20 working days of
receipt of the application. You will receive an email with the detailed reasoning for the decision.
We will also inform you how to escalate your appeal to the next stage if you disagree with the
outcome.
Stage 2 appeal:
A stage 2 appeal form needs to be completed to make a Stage 2 appeal.
All stage 2 appeals will be considered by the Discretionary Transport Appeal Panel (“the Appeal
Panel”). This is made up of three elected County Councillors who are independent of officers and
the Stage 1 appeal process. The Appeal Panel will consider the original application and the appeal
forms together with any supporting documents or information provided to the Council in relation to
the application or the appeal. The Appeal Panel will also consider all verbal information made by
the parent/carer (such as via phone calls) where it is provided before the deadline for the meeting.
The Appeal Panel may have questions during a hearing and in that situation, they may ask for the
supporting officer to seek clarification by making a telephone call to the parent/carer.
The stage 2 appeal will consider the financial circumstances of the family and potential impact of a
declined application if relevant. If the appeal refers to financial hardship, the financial statement on
the Stage 2 appeal form needs to be completed.
It is not usually possible for parents/carers to attend Appeal Panel meetings in person. It may be
possible to provide verbal representations at the meeting in exceptional circumstances where a
parent/carer would face significant disadvantage in making their appeal without this. Examples of
significant disadvantage could include having a relevant disability such as severe dyslexia or a
learning difficulty that makes written communication difficult and where it has not been possible to
access support to set out in writing the reason for appeal. It is possible to request to make verbal

ESCC school transport policy September 2021

Page 15

Page 7 of 8

representations on the Stage 2 appeal form and the request will be considered by the supporting
officer. It is expected that the verbal representation will be made via a telephone call or video call
for a fixed duration at the start of the Appeal Panel hearing.
A stage 2 appeal panel will be convened within 40 working days of receipt of the application.
Within 5 working days of the meeting, you will be provided with the detailed reasoning for the
decision and details of how to escalate your complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman
(LGO) if you believe your appeal has been handled unfairly or if you feel the decision of the panel
is flawed on public law grounds.
Stage 1 and 2 appeal forms can be found on the school transport appeals webpage.

9 Complaints
The Council is here to help and support the people of East Sussex. Services are provided as
efficiently as possible and it is expected that staff are helpful, polite and explain things clearly
whether on the telephone, in writing or face to face.
Sometimes things go wrong and parents or carers may not be happy with the service they have
received. We welcome comments, good and bad, as an opportunity to put things right and improve
our services. Parents should let us know if they feel that the council has failed to do something,
done something wrong or acted unfairly or impolitely.
Complaints can be made to the Children’s Services Customer Relations Team. Their contact
details are shown below:
Email: CS.Customerrelations@eastsussex.gov.uk
Address: East G, County Hall, Lewes, BN7 1UE
You can also submit your complaint online:
https://esccchildrenscomplaints.freshdesk.com/support/tickets/new
Complaints and concerns about transport arrangements should be directed to:
Email: compliance.cts@eastsussex.gov.uk
Contact your County Councillor
Parents can contact their local County Councillor – visit www.eastsussex.gov.uk/ to find your
councillor.

ESCC school transport policy September 2021

Page 16

Page 8 of 8

Appendix 2

SEND travel assistance policy for
16 to 19 year olds
Date: tbc

Document purpose
This policy sets out how East Sussex County Council (ESCC) will decide eligibility
for travel support for learners aged 16 to 19 who have Special Educational Needs
and Disabilities (SEND).
In formulating this policy ESCC has had regard to the statutory guidance on “Post-16
transport and travel support to education and training”.
Accessibility
Please contact us if you’d like this document translated into another language or
need other assistance reading this document.

Contents
1.

Introduction

2

2.

Local authority responsibility

2

3.

Criteria for travel assistance

3

4.

Contribution towards post-16 travel assistance

3

5.

Application process

3

6.

How decisions are made

4

7.

What happens if travel assistance is approved

5

8.

Limitations of the travel assistance we provide

6

9.

Appeal process

6

10. Ongoing provision of travel assistance

7

11. Other travel assistance available if application declined

8

12. Changes to this policy

8

13. Summary of the application process

9

16-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy JulyPage
202117

Page 1 of 9

1. Introduction
1.1.

1.2.

This policy explains ESCC’s statutory responsibility in respect of travel assistance
for students aged 16 to 19. It states how to apply for travel assistance and how
eligibility is determined and assessed.
This policy applies to students over compulsory school age but under 19 (or those
who began a course of education or training before turning 19 and are still
attending that course). This refers to those in school years 12, 13 and 14.

2. Local authority responsibility
2.1.

2.2.

2.3.

2.4.

2.5.

Once young people with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND), reach
16 years old, the help councils must give them with transport to school or college
changes. They do not automatically get the free school transport that younger
children are entitled to.
Statutory guidance states that if someone asks a council for transport assistance
for a young person over 16 years old it must assess their situation and ensure that
its decision to provide transport or other assistance is a reasonable one, taking
into account all relevant matters. Councils are expected to target support at those
who need it most. ESCC is committed to providing travel assistance to post 16
students with SEND, when their SEND and circumstances mean that they could
not otherwise access their placement.
ESCC must prepare and publish an annual transport policy statement specifying
the arrangements for the provision of transport or other support that the authority
considers it necessary to make to facilitate the attendance of all persons of sixth
form age receiving education or training. This can be found at:
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/educationandlearning/schools/transport/strategy/d
ownload/.
The law concerning education transport is set out in the Education Act 1996 (as
amended) (“the Act”). The Act divides children and young people into three groups:
children of compulsory school age; young people of sixth form age; and adult
learners. For sixth form age students, if transport assistance is requested, this will
be assessed and provided where necessary. Section 509AC(1) states that sixth
form age is determined as those who are (a) under the age of 19; or (b) began a
course of education or training before the age of 19 and continues to attend that
course.
Statutory guidance from the Department for Education ‘Transport to education and
training for people aged 16 and over’ (2019) states that local authorities may ask
learners and their parents/carers for a contribution to transport costs for young
people of sixth form age.

16-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy JulyPage
2021 18

Page 2 of 9

3. Criteria for travel assistance
3.1.

3.2.

The following gateway criteria must be met for an application for travel assistance
to be considered.
 The student lives in East Sussex.
 The student has a current Education, Health and Care Plan (“EHCP”).
 The student will be attending the equivalent of a full-time education course
(540 hours or more per year).
 The placement is the nearest suitable college to their home address, and
named in the student’s EHCP.
 The student is unable to travel to the placement independently.
If these gateway criteria are met, ESCC will then consider the circumstances of
the student and the family and their broader network, to assess whether it is
necessary to provide transport for the student. Parents/carers will be expected to
prioritise transporting the student over other commitments.

4. Contribution towards post-16 travel assistance
4.1.

4.2.

4.3.

4.4.

Where travel assistance is agreed, a contribution towards the cost of travel is
required. The contribution is based on the current cost of a 'Freedom' bus ticket
and is reviewed annually. In the academic year 2021/22 this is £684 per year.
Low-income families are required to contribute half of the amount - £342. To
qualify as Low Income, the student must be eligible for Free School Meals. More
information on eligibility can be found on ESCC’s website at
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/freeschoolmeals
An invoice will be sent, and payment usually needs to be made in 10 monthly
instalments. Payment will usually be made via Direct Debit except where another
payment method has been agreed.
Transport will not usually be arranged until the first payment is made. Transport
may be ceased if payments are not made on schedule - if this occurs ESCC will
first contact the parent/carer to try and avoid this action.

5. Application process
5.1.

5.2.

The quickest and most secure way to make an application is online using the
application form found in the following section of ESCC’s website:
www.eastsussex.gov.uk/SENDtravel. On submission of an online application
form, you will get an automated email acknowledgement. Alternatively, we can
send you a paper copy of the form on request. Support with completing the
application form can be provided by your assigned key worker or APO.
A new application is required for everyone requesting 16-19 travel assistance
whether the student is remaining in the same school or moving to a new place of
learning. In addition, a new application is needed for each new course or
placement or when the student moves home address.

16-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy JulyPage
202119

Page 3 of 9

5.3.

5.4.
5.5.

Applications will be considered to determine if the gateway criteria as set out in
section 3 are met. More information may be sought to help with the decision.
Information on how the decision is made can be found in the next section. It can
take some time to reach a decision depending on the timing of the application and
whether further information needs to be requested. On average it could take 20
days for a decision to be communicated to the applicant.
Reimbursements for travel costs incurred before an application is approved will
not be made.
If you disagree with the decision, you can lodge an appeal. Further information on
how to appeal can be found in section 9.

6. How decisions are made
6.1.

6.2.

6.3.

All applications will be considered by an officer. They will consider the individual
circumstances of each case and will not apply blanket policies or make
assumptions about accompaniment. They will consider whether it is reasonably
practical in the circumstances of each case for parents/carers to accompany the
student or make the travel arrangements themselves. Applications will be
assessed based on the evidence provided, but the officer may request additional
information. The officer will consider whether it is necessary for ESCC to provide
travel assistance in each case, rather than the student or family making their own
travel arrangements.
The officer will use the information provided in the application, any other email
correspondence with ESCC in relation to the provision of transport as well as
verbal information provided during phone calls.
In considering the eligibility of the student to receive an offer and what offer should
be made, the officer will consider the following and/or any other relevant factors:
 Nature of the journey for the student/family for example, the distance, likely
journey time, and complexity of the journey by road, public transport or on
foot; whether the journey could be reasonably made if the student is
accompanied.
 Parent/carer/broader network availability to accompany for example, the
current commitments of the parent(s)/carer(s) and broader network; whether
the student's family or broader network is reasonably able to transport or
accompany them, given all other factors. There will be consideration however
that parents/carers will be expected to prioritise transporting the student over
other commitments.
 Available suitable vehicle and/or disability benefits for example, whether the
family has a suitable vehicle, which may include a Motability vehicle; whether
the student is receiving PIP with a component intended to support travel; any
current social care support.
 The student's needs relating to travel for example, whether the student has
complex needs, and/or requires a second person on transport; if independent
travel is a realistic goal, and whether this has been appropriately encouraged
by the family.

16-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy JulyPage
2021 20

Page 4 of 9



6.4.

Other relevant factors, for example, the health of the parent/carer and the
potential impact of providing transport or accompanying the student, given all
other factors.
The following evidence may be required in addition to an application for travel
assistance:
 Recent evidence from a relevant health and/or educational professional
regarding the SEND of the student and how this impacts on the need for
travel assistance, their ability to walk or travel on public transport,
accompanied or otherwise.
 Recent evidence from a relevant health professional regarding a
parent/carer’s health, if this means that they are not able to accompany or
transport the student themselves.
 Evidence from the parent/carer’s employer regarding their work commitments,
to include working hours, days, times, location of work and distance in miles
from home to work and from the placement to work.
 Written evidence to demonstrate other commitments, although broader caring
responsibilities would not normally be considered as a reason why a
parent/carer would not be able to transport the student, as the family would be
expected to find alternative solutions in most cases.

7. What happens if travel assistance is approved
7.1.

7.2.

7.3.

7.4.

Consideration will be given to the most suitable travel assistance for the student.
This will be one of the following:
 Personal travel budget
 Independent travel training
 Minibus or taxi.
Personal travel budget (PTB): A family may be offered a PTB to provide financial
assistance to organise transport to school/college. The amount is based on the
distance of a return journey from home to the nearest suitable school or college
and is paid in monthly instalments.
Independent travel training (ITT): ITT is the process by which a person learns to
make a journey between two places on their own and in safety – in this case the
journey between home and school/college. The training provides extra help or
support to make journeys alone using public transport (and walking or cycling as
necessary) when the student has reached an appropriate age or stage of
development. Students will be considered for an assessment for their suitability
for ITT. Where students are assessed as being suitable for ITT and the student
and/or their family/carer do not positively engage with ITT, an offer of travel
assistance may be withdrawn. At the end of the ITT, the student will be assessed
on their ability to travel independently. When the student has been assessed to
have completed the ITT, and therefore able to travel independently, the travel
assistance will be ceased.
Minibus or taxi: Where ESCC will be providing the transport, the student will be
risk assessed for the provision of safe and suitable transport arrangements.

16-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy JulyPage
202121

Page 5 of 9

8. Limitations of the travel assistance we provide
8.1.

8.2.

8.3.

8.4.

8.5.

Students will usually only be transported at published school/college start and
finish times, and they may be expected to enable sharing with other students
through early arrival or delayed collection if safe to do so; or students may need to
arrive earlier or leave later than their taught hours in college.
An offer of travel assistance may be part-week or involve a pick-up or drop-off
point, i.e. not door to door. This will, however, be assessed on a case-by-case
basis, depending on the student’s needs.
Travel assistance is not provided to work experience or dual placements, medical
appointments, or other off-site visits. Responsibility for these remains with the
parents/carers or school/college as appropriate.
Travel assistance to respite is also discretionary and can be requested. ESCC will
separately consider requests for transport to respite under the same discretionary
criteria, on term time days only. An additional charge may be made for transport
to respite if approved.
If the student attends a residential school and qualifies for travel assistance, this
will only be provided at the start and end of each half-term or each week
depending on the boarding arrangements. This will be made clear when the
application is approved. We do not provide transport at other times or for
parent/carer visits for meetings.

9. Appeal process
9.1.
9.2.

Everyone has the right to appeal if they disagree with the initial decision. ESCC
operates a two-stage appeal process for 16-19 SEND transport cases.
Stage 1 appeal:
 A stage 1 appeal form needs to be completed to make an appeal.
 All stage 1 appeals will be considered by the ISEND Travel Panel (“the Travel
Panel”) which consists of senior officers from across ESCC. The members of
the Travel Panel will consider the appeal form; any information provided in
support of the appeal; the application form; supporting information provided
with the application; and any other correspondence used by the officer to
reach a decision.
 The stage 1 appeal will consider the financial circumstances of the family and
potential impact of a declined application if relevant. The applicant will need
to provide financial information on the appeal form if they want their financial
circumstances to be considered.
 In addition to completing a stage 1 appeal form it is possible to telephone one
of our officers who will record your comments in writing and will pass this onto
the panel members for their consideration.
 We shall aim to provide you with a decision from your stage 1 appeal within
20 working days of receipt of the application. You will receive an email with
the detailed reasoning for the decision. We will also inform you how to
escalate your appeal to the next stage if you disagree with the outcome.

16-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy JulyPage
2021 22

Page 6 of 9

9.3.

9.4.

Stage 2 appeal:
 A stage 2 appeal form needs to be completed to make a Stage 2 appeal.
 All stage 2 appeals will be considered by the Discretionary Transport Appeal
Panel (“the Appeal Panel”). This is made up of three elected County
Councillors who are independent of officers and the Stage 1 appeal process.
The Appeal Panel will consider the original application and the appeal forms
together with any supporting documents or information provided to ESCC in
relation to the application or the appeal. The Appeal Panel will also consider
all verbal information made by the parent/carer (such as via phone calls)
where it is provided before the deadline for the meeting. The Appeal Panel
may have questions during a hearing and in that situation, they may ask for
the supporting officer to seek clarification by making a telephone call to the
parent/carer.
 The stage 2 appeal will consider the financial circumstances of the family and
potential impact of a declined application if relevant. If the appeal refers to
financial hardship, and the financial information was not completed on the
stage 1 appeal form, this needs to be completed on the Stage 2 appeal form.
 It is not usually possible for students/parents/carers to attend Appeal Panel
meetings in person. It may be possible to provide verbal representations at
the meeting in exceptional circumstances where a student/parent/carer would
face significant disadvantage in making their appeal without this. Examples of
significant disadvantage could include having a relevant disability such as
severe dyslexia or a learning difficulty that makes written communication
difficult and where it has not been possible to access support to set out in
writing the reason for appeal. It is possible to request to make verbal
representations on the Stage 2 appeal form and the request will be
considered by the supporting officer.
It is expected that the verbal
representation will be made via a telephone call or video call for a fixed
duration at the start of the Appeal Panel hearing.
 The Appeal Panel will meet within 40 working days of receipt of the
application. Within 5 working days of the meeting, you will be informed of
their decision by with the detailed reasoning in writing. We will also inform
you how to escalate your complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman
(LGO) if you consider that there was a failure to comply with the procedural
rules or if there were any other irregularities in the way the appeal has been
handled.
More information about the appeals process as well as the appeal forms can be
found on the school transport appeals webpage:
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/educationandlearning/schools/transport/free/schoo
l-transport-appeals/.

10. Ongoing provision of travel assistance
10.1. Travel assistance provided will be reviewed annually.
10.2. A new application must be made if the young person moves to a new home or
other circumstances change.

16-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy JulyPage
202123

Page 7 of 9

11. Other travel assistance available if application
declined
11.1. Where it is decided that travel assistance will not be provided by ESCC l, the
parent/carer may consider applying for one of the following:
11.2. Mileage allowance: This scheme is only available to low-income parents/carers
who have to travel long distances (over 10 miles) to transport a student to the
college indicated in their EHCP. The mileage allowance given will be 25p per mile
for one return journey per day and only for the miles beyond the first 10 miles of
the journey from home. For example, where the distance from home to college is
15 miles, the allowance given will be calculated as 2 journeys x 5 miles x 25p.
Proof of attendance will be sought from the school/college. The following criteria
must apply for claims for mileage allowance to be considered:
 The family qualifies as low income using the same criteria for free school
meals eligibility. Further information can be found at:
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/educationandlearning/schools/schoollife/meals/free/
 The student is attending the college named in their EHCP.
 The journey exceeds 10 miles between home and college.
11.3. Vacant seat scheme: Where it is decided that travel assistance will not be
provided by ESCC, the parent/carer may be able to apply for a vacant seat: This
is only possible for some routes to colleges and we can only give seats on our
existing vehicles where there are spaces available. This means we are not able to
offer a seat to everyone. The charge for the 2021/22 school year is £157 per term
based on a 6-term year or £942 per year (reviewed annually). It may be
necessary for the student to get themselves or be taken to an existing stop. If a
change is made to the shared route which means that the cost of the vacant seat
increases, this increase may be passed onto the parent/carer, or the offer of the
vacant seat withdrawn. We will have to withdraw the vacant seat offer if we need
the seat for someone else who qualifies for free transport or if we no longer have
anyone on the route that qualifies for free transport. ESCC will give as much
notice as possible however the minimum notice given will be one week. Further
information is available on our website at: www.eastsussex.gov.uk/SENDtravel

12. Changes to this policy
12.1. If ESCC makes any change to this policy which is assessed as likely to have an
impact on current and prospective students, the Council will inform the
immediately affected families at the earliest opportunity. Such changes may
include, but are not limited to, changes required by the impact of further cost
saving requirements placed upon the Council and further limitations on this
discretionary support.

16-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy JulyPage
2021 24

Page 8 of 9

13. Summary of the application process
13.1. A Summary of the overall process follows:
1. Apply
a) Applicants should review our gateway criteria set out in section 3.1.
b) Use the online form to apply.
c) We can post you a paper form if you prefer.
2. Application considered
a) An officer will consider the application form and any supporting evidence.
b) We may contact you to find out more about the student and their
circumstances.
c) We aim to inform you of a decision within 20 working days of receipt of the
application form.
3. Decision
a) You will be informed in writing of the officer’s decision.
4. Organise transport/set up parental contribution payments
a) If the officer determines that transport is necessary, a full risk assessment
of the student's needs will be completed.
b) Financial contribution should be made before transport is finalised.
c) It can take up to 10 working days for the transport to be organised.
d) Direct debit to be set up

5. Stage 1 appeal
a) If you disagree with the decision, you can request a Stage 1 appeal.
b) Complete a Stage 1 appeal form.
c) All Stage 1 appeals are considered by the ISEND Travel Panel who meet
monthly to consider cases.
d) You should receive a decision within 20 working days of receipt of the
application form.
6. Stage 2 appeal
a) If you disagree with the Stage 1 decision, you can request a Stage 2
appeal.
b) Complete a Stage 2 appeal form.
c) All Stage 2 appeals are considered by The Discretionary Transport Appeal
Panel.
d) The Appeal Panel will meet within 40 working days of receipt of the
application form.
e) You will receive a written decision from the Appeal Panel within 5 working
days of the meeting.

16-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy JulyPage
202125

Page 9 of 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 3

SEND travel assistance policy for
Post 19 year olds

Date: tbc

Document purpose
This policy sets out how East Sussex County Council (ESCC) will decide
eligibility for travel support for learners aged 19 to 25 who have Special
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND).
In formulating this policy ESCC has had regard to the statutory guidance on
“Post-16 transport and travel support to education and training” and in
relation to the duty set out in section 508F Education Act 1996.
Accessibility
Please contact us if you’d like this document translated into another language or
need other assistance reading this document.

Contents
1.

Introduction

2

2.

Local authority responsibility

2

3.

Criteria for travel assistance

3

4.

Application process

3

5.

How decisions are made

4

6.

What happens if travel assistance is approved

5

7.

Limitations of the travel assistance we provide

5

8.

Appeal process

6

9.

Ongoing provision of travel assistance

7

10. Vacant seat scheme

8

11. Changes to this policy

8

12. Summary of the application process

9

Page
27
Post-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy July
2021

Page 1 of 9

1. Introduction
1.1.

1.2.

This policy explains ESCC’ s statutory responsibility in respect of travel assistance
for adult learners. It states how to apply for travel assistance and how eligibility is
determined and assessed.
Adult learners are those aged 19 and over who started their programme of
learning after their 19th birthday and for whom an Education, Health and Care Plan
is maintained.

2. Local authority responsibility
2.1.

2.2.

2.3.

Statutory guidance states that if someone asks a council for transport assistance
for a young adult over 19 years old it must assess their situation and decide
whether to provide transport or financial support reasonably, taking into account all
relevant matters. Councils are expected to target support at those who need it
most. ESCC is committed to providing travel assistance to post 19 learners with
SEND, when their SEND and circumstances mean that they could not otherwise
access their placement.
The law concerning education transport is set out in the Education Act 1996 as
amended (“the Act”). The Act divides children and young people into three groups:
children of compulsory school age; young people of sixth form age; and adult
learners. For adult learners, councils must ‘make arrangements they consider
necessary to facilitate their attendance’. Statutory Guidance ‘Post-16 transport and
travel support to education and training’ (January 2019) notes that the overall
intention of the adult transport duty is to ensure that ‘those with the most severe
disabilities with no other means of transportation can undertake further education
and training after their 19th birthday to help them move towards more independent
living.’
Section 508F of the Act requires local authorities to make transport arrangements
they consider “necessary” to facilitate the attendance of relevant young adults
(defined as adults for whom an Education Health and Care Plan (“EHCP”) is
maintained) at institutions where the local authority has secured the provision of
education for the adult learner concerned. When a council finds it is ‘necessary’ to
provide transport for the young adult under section 508F, then the transport must
be provided and be free of charge (the Act, section 508F(4)).

Page
28
Post-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy July
2021

Page 2 of 9

3. Criteria for travel assistance
3.1.

3.2.

The following gateway criteria must be met for an application for travel assistance
to be considered.
 The adult learner lives in East Sussex.
 The adult learner has a current EHCP.
 The adult learner will be attending the equivalent of a full-time education
course (540 hours or more per year).
 The placement is the nearest suitable college to their home address and
named in the learner’s EHCP.
 The adult learner is unable to travel to the placement independently.
If these gateway criteria are met, ESCC will then consider the circumstances of
the adult learner including any support their parent/carer and their broader network
are able to provide, to assess whether it is necessary to provide transport for the
adult learner.

3.3.
4. Application process
4.1.

4.2.

4.3.

4.4.

4.5.
4.6.

The quickest and most secure way to make an application is online using the
application form found in the following section of ESCC’s website:
www.eastsussex.gov.uk/SENDtravel. On submission of an online application form,
you will get an automated email acknowledgement. Alternatively, we can send you
a paper copy of the form on request. Support with completing the application form
can be provided by your assigned key worker or APO
A new application is required for everyone requesting post-19 travel assistance
whether the adult learner is remaining in the same college or moving to a new
place of learning. In addition, a new application is needed for each new course or
placement or when the adult learner moves home address.
Applications will be considered to determine if the gateway criteria as set out in
section 3 are met. More information may be sought to help with the decision.
Information on how the decision is made can be found in the next section. It can
take some time to reach a decision depending on the timing of the application and
whether further information needs to be requested. On average it could take 20
days for a decision to be communicated to the applicant.
The application needs to make clear whether the learner is living independently
from their family and what support that family is able to offer in respect of travel to
college. If the learner is living with family, the officer will use this information to
decide if it is necessary to provide travel assistance.
Reimbursements for travel costs incurred before an application is approved will
not be made.
If you disagree with the decision, you can lodge an appeal. Further information on
how to appeal can be found in section 8.

Page
29
Post-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy July
2021

Page 3 of 9

5. How decisions are made
5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

All applications will be considered by an officer. They will consider the individual
circumstances of each case and will not apply blanket policies or make
assumptions about accompaniment. Applications will be assessed based on the
evidence provided but the officer may request additional information. The officer
will consider whether it is necessary for ESCC to provide travel assistance in each
case.
The officer will use the information provided in the application, a financial
statement provided as part of the application and any other email correspondence
with ESCC in relation to the provision of transport as well as verbal information
provided during phone calls.
In considering the eligibility of the adult learner to receive an offer and what offer
should be made, the officer will consider the following and/or any other relevant
factors:
 Nature of the journey for the adult learner for example, the distance, likely
journey time, and complexity of the journey by road, public transport or on
foot; whether the journey could be reasonably made if the adult learner is
accompanied.
 Parent/carer/broader network ability to provide transport support, e.g.
accompanying the learner on some journeys; transporting the learner on
certain days.
 Available suitable vehicle for example, whether the adult learner has a vehicle
for their use, which may include a Motability vehicle.
 The adult learner's needs relating to travel for example, whether the adult
learner has complex needs, and/or requires a second person on transport; if
independent travel is a realistic goal.
 Any income available to the young adult that can reasonably be expected to
be used to fund transport to and from college. This may include, for example,
a college bursary, disability benefits or the mobility component of personal
independence payments (PIP).
 The financial circumstances of the adult learner and potential impact of a
declined application. A financial statement will be requested in support of the
application to determine reasonable outgoings on essential items.
 Advice from the college, for example, whether independent travel training is
part of the learning programme.
 Other relevant factors.
The following evidence may be required in addition to an application for travel
assistance:
 Recent evidence from a relevant health and/or educational professional
regarding the SEND of the adult learner and how this impacts on the need for
travel assistance, their ability to walk or travel on public transport,
accompanied or otherwise.
 A copy of the care and support plan (if applicable).
 Where the parent/carer is stated as being the primary carer/advocate for the
adult learner, further evidence may be required regarding the support with
transport they are able to provide (if any).

Page
30
Post-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy July
2021

Page 4 of 9

6. What happens if travel assistance is approved
6.1.

6.2.

6.3.

6.4.

Consideration will be given to the most suitable travel assistance for the adult
learner. This will be one of the following:
 Personal travel budget
 Independent travel training
 Minibus or taxi.
Personal travel budget (PTB): An adult learner, parent or carer may be offered a
PTB to provide financial assistance to organise transport to college. The amount
is based on the distance of a return journey from home to the nearest suitable
college and is paid in monthly instalments.
Independent travel training (ITT): ITT is the process by which a person learns to
make a journey between two places on their own and in safety – in this case the
journey between home and college. The training provides extra help or support to
make journeys alone using public transport (and walking or cycling as necessary)
when the adult learner has reached an appropriate age or stage of development.
Adult learners will be considered for an assessment for their suitability for ITT.
Where learners are assessed as being suitable for ITT and the learner and/or their
family/carer do not positively engage with ITT, an offer of travel assistance may be
withdrawn. At the end of the ITT, the student will be assessed on their ability to
travel independently. When the student has been assessed to have completed
the ITT, and therefore able to travel independently, the travel assistance will be
ceased.
Minibus or taxi: Where ESCC will be providing the transport, the adult learner will
be risk assessed for the provision of safe and suitable transport arrangements.

7. Limitations of the travel assistance we provide
7.1.

7.2.

7.3.

7.4.

7.5.

Adult learners will usually only be transported at published college start and finish
times, and they may be expected to enable sharing with other adult learners
through early arrival or delayed collection if safe to do so; or adult learners may
need to arrive earlier or leave later than their taught hours in college.
An offer of travel assistance may be part-week or involve a pick-up or drop-off
point, i.e. not door to door. This will, however, be assessed on a case-by-case
basis, depending on the adult learner’s needs.
Travel assistance is not provided to work experience or dual placements, medical
appointments, or other off-site visits. Responsibility for these remains with the
adult learner/parent/carer or school/college as appropriate.
Travel assistance to respite is also discretionary and can be requested. ESCC will
separately consider requests for transport to respite under the same discretionary
criteria, on term time days only. A charge may be made for transport to respite if
approved.
If the adult learner attends a residential school and qualifies for travel assistance,
this will only be provided at the start and end of each half-term or each week
depending on the boarding arrangements. This will be made clear when the

Page
31
Post-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy July
2021

Page 5 of 9

application is approved. We do not provide transport at other times or for
parent/carer visits for meetings.

8. Appeal process
8.1.
8.2.

8.3.

Everyone has the right to appeal if they disagree with the initial decision. ESCC
operates a two-stage appeal process for post-19 SEND transport cases.
Stage 1 appeal:
 A stage 1 appeal form needs to be completed to make an appeal.
 All stage 1 appeals will be considered by the ISEND Travel Panel (“the Travel
Panel”) which consists of senior officers from across ESCC. The members of
the Travel Panel will consider the appeal form; any information provided in
support of the appeal; the application form; supporting information provided
with the application; and any other correspondence used by the officer to
reach a decision.
 The stage 1 appeal will consider the financial circumstances of the young
adult and potential impact of a declined application if relevant. The applicant
will need to provide financial information on the appeal form if they want their
financial circumstances to be considered, and if this detail has not already
been provided in support of the application.
 In addition to completing a stage 1 appeal form it is possible to telephone one
of our officers who will record your comments in writing and will pass this onto
the panel members for their consideration.
 We shall aim to provide you with a decision from your stage 1 appeal within
20 working days of receipt of the application. You will receive an email with
the detailed reasoning for the decision. We will also inform you how to
escalate your appeal to the next stage if you disagree with the outcome.
Stage 2 appeal:
 A stage 2 appeal form needs to be completed to make a Stage 2 appeal.
 All stage 2 appeals will be considered by The Discretionary Transport Appeal
Panel (“the Appeal Panel”). This is made up of three elected County
Councillors who are independent of officers and the Stage 1 appeal process.
The Appeal Panel will consider the original application and the appeal forms
together with any supporting documents or information provided to ESCC in
relation to the application or the appeal. The Appeal Panel will also consider
all verbal information made by the learner/parent/carer (such as via phone
calls) where it is provided before the deadline for the meeting. The Appeal
Panel may have questions during a hearing and in that situation, they may
ask for the supporting officer to seek clarification by making a telephone call
to the learner/parent/carer.
 The stage 2 appeal will consider the financial circumstances of the young
adult and potential impact of a declined application if relevant. If the appeal
refers to financial hardship, and the financial information was not provided at
an earlier stage, this needs to be completed on the Stage 2 appeal form.

Page
32
Post-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy July
2021

Page 6 of 9



8.4.

It is not usually possible for learners/parents/carers to attend Appeal Panel
meetings in person. It may be possible to provide verbal representations at
the meeting in exceptional circumstances where a learner/parent/carer would
face significant disadvantage in making their appeal without this. Examples of
significant disadvantage could include having a relevant disability such as
severe dyslexia or a learning difficulty that makes written communication
difficult and where it has not been possible to access support to set out in
writing the reason for appeal. It is possible to request to make verbal
representations on the Stage 2 appeal form and the request will be
considered by the supporting officer. It is expected that the verbal
representation will be made via a telephone call or video call for a fixed
duration at the start of the Appeal Panel hearing.
 The Appeal Panel will meet within 40 working days of receipt of the
application. Within 5 working days of the meeting, you will be informed of
their decision by with the detailed reasoning in writing. We will also inform
you how to escalate your complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman
(LGO) if you consider that there was a failure to comply with the procedural
rules or if there were any other irregularities in the way the appeal has been
handled.
More information about the appeals process as well as the appeal forms can be
found on the school transport appeals webpage:
https://www.eastsussex.gov.uk/educationandlearning/schools/transport/free/schoo
l-transport-appeals/

9. Ongoing provision of travel assistance
9.1.
9.2.

Travel assistance provided will be reviewed annually.
A new application must be made if the adult learner moves to a new home or other
circumstances change.

Page
33
Post-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy July
2021

Page 7 of 9

10. Vacant seat scheme
10.1. Where it is decided that travel assistance will not be provided by ESCC, the adult
learner/parent/carer may be able to apply for a vacant seat: This is only possible
for some routes to colleges, and we can only give seats on our existing vehicles
where there are spaces available. This means we are not able to offer a seat to
everyone.
10.2. The charge for the 2021/22 school year is £157 per term based on a 6-term year
or £942 per year (reviewed annually). It may be necessary for the adult learner to
get themselves or be taken to an existing stop. If a change is made to the shared
route which means that the cost of the vacant seat increases, this increase may
be passed onto the adult learner, or the offer of the vacant seat withdrawn. We will
have to withdraw the vacant seat offer if we need the seat for someone else who
qualifies for free transport or if we no longer have anyone on the route that
qualifies for free transport. ESCC will give as much notice as possible however the
minimum notice given will be one week.
10.3. Further information is available on our website at:
www.eastsussex.gov.uk/SENDtravel

11. Changes to this policy
11.1. If ESCC makes any change to this policy which is assessed as likely to have an
impact on current and prospective adult learners, the Council will inform the
immediately affected adult learners at the earliest opportunity. Such changes may
include, but are not limited to, changes required by the impact of further cost
saving requirements placed upon ESCC and further limitations on this
discretionary support.

Page
34
Post-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy July
2021

Page 8 of 9

12. Summary of the application process
12.1. A Summary of the overall process follows:
1. Apply
a) Applicants should review our gateway criteria set out in section 3.1.
b) Use the online form to apply.
c) We can post you a paper form if you prefer.
2. Application considered
a) An officer will consider the application form and any supporting evidence.
b) We may contact you to find out more about the learner and their
circumstances.
c) We aim to inform you of a decision within 20 working days of receipt of the
application form.
3. Decision
a) You will be informed in writing of the officer’s decision.
4. Organise transport
a) If the officer determines that transport is necessary, a full risk assessment
of the learner's needs will be completed.
b) It can take up to 10 working days for the transport to be organised.
5. Stage 1 appeal
a) If you disagree with the decision, you can request a Stage 1 appeal.
b) Complete a Stage 1 appeal form.
c) All Stage 1 appeals are considered by the ISEND Travel Panel who meet
monthly to consider cases.
d) You should receive a decision within 20 working days of receipt of the
application form.
6. Stage 2 appeal
a) If you disagree with the Stage 1 decision, you can request a Stage 2
appeal.
b) Complete a Stage 2 appeal form.
c) All Stage 2 appeals are considered by The Discretionary Transport Appeal
Panel.
d) The Appeal Panel will meet within 40 working days of receipt of the
application form.
e) You will receive a written decision from the Appeal Panel within 5 working
days of the meeting.

Page
35
Post-19 SEND Travel Assistance Policy July
2021

Page 9 of 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Report to:

Lead Member for Education and Inclusion, Special Educational
Needs and Disability

Date of meeting:

13 September 2021

By:

Director of Children’s Services

Title:

Excellence for All 2021 – 2023

Purpose:

To seek Lead Member approval of the new Excellence for All
strategy which underpins the work of the Standards and Learning
Effectiveness Service.

RECOMMENDATION
The Lead Member is recommended to approve the content and authorise the publication
of the Excellence for All Strategy for 2021 – 2023.

1

Background

1.1
The first Excellence for All strategy was published in 2013 and each iteration has a twoyear life span. It outlines the main strategic ambitions for schools, settings and colleges in East
Sussex.
1.2
Reflecting the school led improvement system, Excellence for All is produced in
partnership with key stakeholders including the Primary and Secondary (School) Boards whose
Chairs are signatories to the document (Primary and Secondary Boards are county-wide strategic
bodies which set the overall vison and priorities for improvement within the local education
system).
1.3
Excellence for All drives the work of the Standards and Learning Effectiveness Service
(SLES).
1.4
The new strategy (attached at Appendix 1) takes account of the national context and
SLES will continue to work with schools, settings and colleges to respond effectively to changes
in educational policy.
2

Supporting information

Consultation
2.1
The consultation process began before any drafts of the document had been written.
Partners were asked to attend strategic engagement sessions, which began in March 2021. They
were asked to provide feedback in answer to the following questions:
 What do you think we already do well collectively in East Sussex for children and young
people?
 Are there parts of our collective system that could work better together? How?
 What opportunities does a post COVID-19 world present to us?
 What would be your priorities for children and young people’s education in East Sussex
over the next 2 years?
 What would success look like?

Page 37

2.2
Partners were also presented with data and analysis on: attainment outcomes from early
years to key stage 4, attendance and exclusions, and access to learning and participation. This
data allowed partners to reflect on the progress that has been made since the last strategy was
implemented in 2019 and focus on the areas for improvement which the data highlighted.
2.3
The stakeholders who took part in these engagement sessions include key stakeholders
and partners from early years to post-16 providers, and the Dioceses of Chichester and the
Dioceses of Arundel & Brighton.
2.4
Partners provided thorough and detailed feedback to the key questions and this
information was then crafted into the first new draft of Excellence for All. During the consultation it
was clear that partners felt that it was essential that the strategy was more concise than previous
versions with a focus on key priorities as identified through the data analysis rather than covering
everything we collectively do for education in East Sussex. Partners collectively agreed with the
three emerging priorities for the strategy.
2.5
Partners were also keen to emphasise that this strategy should capture the ‘once in a
lifetime’ opportunity that we have, in the wake of the pandemic, to rethink what is important in
education. Partners also felt that it was critical to retain the innovative approaches and projects
developed during lockdowns.
Strategy
2.6
After the consultation period the following strategic ambitions were drawn from the
feedback provided by partners:




Support every setting and partnership to strengthen leadership at all levels, enabling
leaders who promote excellence for all children and young people.
Improve literacy and oracy, across all phases, to build on the gains that have been made
in the county over recent years and address areas of historically lower achievement.
Take the innovations in approaches to learning and participation, developed during the
pandemic, into our post lockdown working to support the inclusion and wellbeing of
children and young people.

2.7
The Chairs of the Primary and Secondary Boards also agreed to and signed off these
ambitions. They noted that they align with the priorities of the boards themselves, which will serve
to further strengthen the partnership infrastructure and to provide schools, settings, and colleges
with consistent and coherent messaging about strategic education improvement in East Sussex.
2.8
The strategy explores two key areas of focus. The first area is ‘leadership’, which was a
common theme throughout the consultation period. Partners felt that leadership was a vital tool
within the strategy because it addresses both longer term education improvement goals, and the
very immediate challenges posed by the pandemic and lockdowns. Education leaders have been
under immense pressure through the past 18 months and the strategy acknowledges this and
makes space for new leaders who are coming through the leadership development system.
2.9
The strategy also includes an emphasis on wellbeing in education. The pandemic created
and exacerbated a host of challenges relating to mental health and wellbeing amongst children
and young people and their educators. Partners agreed that it was critical to capture that in the
strategy and demonstrate our commitment to delivering programmes and projects which will
support the work being done to improve wellbeing in education across East Sussex.

Page 38

2.10 Feedback from the consultation identified a need for a longer-term vision for education,
that looks beyond the 2-year period of Excellence for All. SLES will start developing such a vision
this year; the voice of young people will be a key part of informing this vision.
2.11 The published version of the strategy document will be branded and designed by the
communications team and made accessible.
3.

Conclusion and reasons for recommendations

3.1
This strategy represents the key ambitions that the local authority and our partners share
for education in East Sussex. It has been developed through a thorough analysis of current
educational performance and a consultation process that has secured the buy-in of our partners
to its delivery. The renewed strategy will provide schools, settings and colleges with a clear and
timely message about the ways in which we will support them and the local authority’s role as
champion for children and young people.
3.2
The Lead Member is recommended to approve the content and authorise the publication
of the new Excellence for All Strategy for 2021 – 2023.

ALISON JEFFERY
Director of Children’s Services
Contact
Elizabeth Funge, Head of Education Improvement
Tel. No. 01273 336879
Email: Elizabeth.Funge@eastsussex.gov.uk

Appendices
Appendix 1 - Excellence for All Strategy for 2021 – 2023.

Page 39

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1

Excellence for All
2021 – 2023
Contents
Foreword................................................................................................................................................. 2
Local Context .......................................................................................................................................... 3
Where are we now? ................................................................................................................................ 4
What do we mean by Leadership? ......................................................................................................... 4
Shared Ambitions.................................................................................................................................... 5
Wellbeing in Education ........................................................................................................................... 6

1

Page 41

Foreword
East Sussex is a County which aspires to be a great place to live and work. It is also a County
where education is a key priority. We are ambitious to achieve the best for our children and
young people, whatever their background.
The first Excellence for All strategy was published in 2013 and each iteration has a two-year
life span. In 2020, the global pandemic precipitated an unprecedented change in the
education landscape, and we shall continue to uncover the implications of that change for
many years to come.
In the spirit of using this monumental shift for the benefit of children and young people, rather
than looking at it as an insurmountable challenge, this strategy draws on the innovation and
creativity of the work that was done during lockdown on remote learning, participation and
inclusion and looks to embed these into our future ways of working. Our partnership
infrastructure remains the key local mechanism for delivering the shared ambitions set out in
this strategy. We shall continue to work collaboratively in order to build capacity for
improvement, drive innovation and ensure the very best education for our children and young
people.
Our approach to developing our strategic ambitions was to run multiple consultation and
engagement sessions with our partners and ask them the following core questions:






What do you think we already do well collectively, in East Sussex, for children and
young people?
Are there parts of our collective system that could work better together? How?
What opportunities does a post-COVID 19 world present?
What are your priorities for children and young people’s education in East Sussex over
the next 2 years?
What would success look like?

The answers to these questions were drawn together to form the bedrock of this strategy.
This collaborative process also highlighted the need to work on a long-term vision and
strategy for the education system in East Sussex and this will be the focus of the next phase
in our strategic planning.
We look forward to working with all our partners over the next two years to deliver the
ambitions set out in this strategy. We have distilled these down into three key areas that will
form the focus of our work together. These ambitions are underpinned by a commitment to
wellbeing in education and a belief that strong, collaborative leadership is the key to our
success. We invite you all to lead this strategy with us so that, together, we can create an
excellent education for all our children and young people.

2

Page 42

Local Context
East Sussex is a diverse county with urban, rural, and coastal areas with different
characteristics. The education sector is made up of a range of providers.
Key facts about the education sector are:


486 early years’ providers, made up of 181 nurseries/pre-schools, 225 childminders,
24 standalone holiday playschemes/out of school clubs, 44 schools with nurseries
(maintained/academies), 12 independent school nurseries



187 schools: 148 primary phase schools, 3 all-through schools, 23 secondary schools,
11 special schools and 2 alternative provisions



one further education college, one sixth form college and one land-based college



34% of schools are currently in academy trusts - 24% primary, 100% all through
schools, 61% secondary, 91% specials schools, 100% alternative provision



22% of primary schools are in federations. There are no secondary or special schools
in federations



67,374 number of learners on roll across primary, secondary and special schools



15.6% of pupils are BAME



20.9% of pupils are eligible for free school meals and 15.3% of pupils have SEN



1739 children in need, 487 children with a child protection plan and 616 looked after
children aged 0 – 17 years across the county.

East Sussex is determined to ensure that all children and young people achieve the very best
they can. Excellence for All is a collective ambition from all those who lead, staff and
support our settings, schools and colleges.

3

Page 43

Where are we now?
Since March 2020, the UK has experienced three national lockdowns which saw schools,
settings and colleges closed to most children and young people. Whilst advancements in
science and public health systems are being made at a ground-breaking pace, there is no
guarantee that children and young people will not experience further disruption to learning
in schools and settings, for some time to come.
It is critical that the education system in East Sussex embraces the learning gained during the
pandemic and uses it to improve the educational experience we offer to all young people.
Our school-led improvement system will allow us to address the challenges ahead and share
best practice for tackling the complex issues which may arise from lockdown.
Our schools and settings underwent radical transformation at all levels to deal with the
challenges and opportunities posed by remote learning. We have seen teachers successfully
lift their curriculum out of the classroom and map it onto digital platforms for young people
to access at home. We have seen Senior Leaders and Governing Boards shift their focus to
the importance of mental health and wellbeing and build it further into their strategic visions
for their organisations. We have seen many young people and their families take a leadership
role in their own learning and engage with their school more meaningfully and regularly than
ever before.
Schools and settings in East Sussex played an essential role in the local response to the
pandemic. Their provision for the children of key workers and for the most vulnerable young
people strengthened their role as cornerstones of the community.
The Primary and Secondary Boards played an important role through the last year in
supporting schools. Local partnerships have enabled schools to share practice and solve
problems whilst the Boards have provided strategic direction and additional resource to
address emerging priorities.
Despite our sharper focus on the most disadvantaged in our previous strategy, lockdown
proved/demonstrated that the gap between disadvantaged and non-disadvantaged learners
was still too great and that the aspirations, resources and structures that we had in place to
ensure that the most disadvantaged achieve consistently high outcomes are not yet sufficient.

What do we mean by Leadership?
Leadership is about developing the skills and confidence across organisations and
partnerships, through creating an environment in which individuals feels both supported
and stretched, to enable them to perform and learn at their best.
Partners across East Sussex share the strategic aim to provide excellent leadership for all
learners. Leaders are committed to transforming the educational experience of all young
people to ensure that they achieve consistently high outcomes and progress positively to
the next stage of their learning.
4

Page 44

The Primary and Secondary Boards share a collective responsibility to improve outcomes for
all young people in East Sussex. Leaders in schools, settings and colleges will be supported in
their aim to achieve outstanding leadership, through the strategic direction of the boards.
The Boards are at the heart of the school-led improvement system and serve all the schools
in East Sussex, whether they are local authority schools, stand-alone academies, or
members of a multi-academy trust.
System leadership, through collaboration, provides opportunities for practitioners to share
best practice across schools and settings, whilst creating opportunities for a wider array of
career development opportunities.
Our strategic ambition is for East Sussex to be a place where we grow the very best leaders,
providing opportunities to progress along dynamic leadership pathways, and attracting
leaders from outside of the county to come and work in our schools, colleges and settings.
Strong leaders will also be needed to address the challenges that have been exacerbated by
the COVID 19 pandemic. These leaders will reject the rhetoric of deficit and ‘lost’ learning
and will instead look at ways to deliver a quality educational experience which allows young
people to progress and to thrive.

Shared Ambitions
These new shared ambitions build on the successes and improvements that schools,
settings, and our partners have achieved over the past two years. They were developed
through a series of collaborative engagement sessions with partners and stakeholders.
They also acknowledge and confront the gaps in our work which urgently need to be
addressed for the education system in East Sussex to truly meet the needs of all learners,
across all phases.
In East Sussex, we will work together to:


Support every setting and partnership to strengthen leadership at all levels,
enabling leaders who promote excellence for all children and young people.
We will know we have achieved this when:
- every school, setting, college and post-16 provider in East Sussex are at least
‘good’ as judged by Ofsted
- every school, setting, college and post-16 provider has a strong SEND offer which
is enhanced by support and collaboration with partners
- Safeguarding policies and practice are robust, and children are educated and
informed about risks to their health and well-being
- the impact of leadership development opportunities across East Sussex can be
seen in strong leadership appointments and better performance at all key stages
5

Page 45



governors make successful appointments to leadership roles which have a
positive impact on all key outcome measures

Improve literacy and oracy, across all phases, to build on the gains that have been
made in the county over recent years and address areas of historically lower
achievement.
We will know we have achieved this when:
- attainment and progress outcomes for English, reading and writing at all key
stages are in the top quartiles, particularly for the most disadvantaged young
people including SEND
- practitioners and leaders in Early Years to Key Stage 1 feel confident that
challenges in speech and language and school readiness, exacerbated by
lockdowns, are being addressed through training and support and that the
impact on the children is evident in their progress
- reading is a priority in all schools across East Sussex, demonstrated through a
well sequenced reading curriculum, with a focus on a love of reading and on the
good teaching of reading



Take the innovations in approaches to learning and participation, developed during
the pandemic, into our post lockdown working to support the inclusion and
wellbeing of children and young people.
We will know we have achieved this when:
- there is a consistently high take up of funded places for early years children
- we see an increase in those who secure and progress through their chosen post16 career pathway; and local post-16 provision reflects the sector skills priorities
of East Sussex
- we see an increase in Gatsby Benchmarks evidencing excellence in careers
provision across our schools and colleges
- attendance figures exceed national levels on all measures
- there is a significant decrease in permanent and fixed term exclusions across all
East Sussex schools
- Mental Health Support Teams are embedded in targeted schools and colleges
and offer high quality support for these communities

Wellbeing in Education
The local authority will fulfil its role as champion for children and young people by
continuing to hold the school-led system to account for the outcomes, progress and
destinations of all learners. Additionally, the local authority will promote the importance of
mental health and wellbeing across all strands of its work with schools, setting and other
partners.
The local authority will provide strategic opportunities for schools and settings to develop
partnerships which promote and foreground mental health and wellbeing. The Mental
Health Support Teams (MHSTs) will continue to be integrated into the existing education
6

Page 46

and clinical landscapes, and further work will be delivered on the whole school approach
and on co-production with children and young people.
The local authority’s traded services all contain strands of work which tie back to wellbeing
and mental health including support for governors on their strategic role in monitoring the
wellbeing of staff and children; developing safeguarding practice which upholds the
wellbeing of all children and young people; behaviour and attendance support; educational
psychology and an inclusive work experience programme.
The wellbeing of school leaders and staff is paramount, and the local authority will continue
to offer programmes of support to address the mounting challenges caused by the
pandemic. The programmes include coaching support for school leaders, the Educational
Psychology service, staff wellbeing toolkits and enhanced pastoral support as part of the
adviser programme.
Ae we move on from the recent unparalleled period across the globe, East Sussex is
determined to renew its commitment to Excellence for All.
Leaders at all levels in the education services are ambitious for the children and young
people they serve. A rich curriculum, extensive extra-curricular opportunities, a wide
range of academic and vocational courses, superb teaching – this is our ambitious offer to
ensure that this generation in our settings, schools and colleges thrives as never before.

7

Page 47

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
Report to:

Lead Member for Education and Inclusion, Special Educational
Needs and Disability

Date:

13 September 2021

By:

Director of Children’s Services

Title of report:

Change of age range at Cradle Hill Community Primary
School

Purpose of report:

To seek Lead Member approval to publish a statutory notice
in respect of a proposal to lower the age range at Cradle Hill
Community Primary School from 4-11 to 2-11.
___________________________________________________________________
RECOMMENDATIONS
The Lead Member is recommended to:
1) authorise the publication of a statutory notice in respect of a proposal to
lower the age range at Cradle Hill Community Primary School from 4-11 to
2-11. The proposal is to take effect from 1 April 2022: and;
2) delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to amend the
proposal prior to its publication, if required.
___________________________________________________________________
1

Background

1.1
On 7 October 2019 a decision was taken by the Lead Member for Children and
Families to de-designate 14 Children’s Centres as part of the Revised Children’s
Services Early Help Strategy in East Sussex. One of the 14 de-designated Children’s
Centre buildings is located on the Cradle Hill Community Primary School (Cradle Hill)
site (Seaford). A private nursery previously operated from the building, providing early
years and childcare for families in the area, however, the provider gave notice to cease
trading in early 2020.
1.2
The Cradle Hill governing board wishes to lower the school’s age range from 411 to 2-11 with effect from 1 April 2022 to re-establish nursery provision on the site and
provide for families who wish to access funded early years provision in the area. By
providing a nursery on site, the former Children’s Centre building would continue to
offer services for 0–5-year-olds, in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
original Department for Education (DfE) grant funding used to construct the building.
1.3
The governing board’s vision is to integrate, fully, nursery provision into the
Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) within the school. The governing board wishes
to offer high quality early education to families in the local area, delivered by
experienced and well-trained staff across the EYFS. The aim is to build on the work
already done by the school to secure good outcomes for all children in the future.
2

Supporting information

2.1
The governing board undertook a period of consultation between 10 May and 14
June 2021 on a proposal to lower the school’s age range. The governing board
consulted with staff, families of children at the school, the local community, and other
interested parties.
2.2
By the close of the consultation period 14 responses had been received, all of
which were positive and in support of the proposal.

Page 49







Two mentioned that it would benefit the local community, especially working
parents.
Four mentioned it would be easy to have one pick up and drop off for all
children.
One mentioned that it would benefit the children and speed along social skills.
Three mentioned that it would help transition from nursery to school “familiar
with school environment”.
One mentioned the strong foundation for early learning and transition

2.3
A complete list of responses to the consultation is available for Members
consideration in the Cabinet and Members Room’s at County Hall.
2.4
In developing its proposal, the school also undertook a local needs survey.
From the 74 responses received, 84% said they would consider using a nursery on the
Cradle Hill site, 12% said they were unsure and 4% said they wouldn’t.
2.5
At the time the consultation was undertaken it was intended to implement the
proposal from 1 January 2022. However, and subject to the outcome of the
consultation the local authority has since agreed with the school that the proposal
should be implemented on 1 April 2022 to benefit from the nursery opening at the start
of the new financial year and to provide more time for the recruitment of staff. The first
children to join the nursery would do so in Terms 5 and 6.
3.

Statutory process

3.1
Proposed changes to the organisation of maintained schools must follow a
prescribed process established by the School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to
Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013. To change the age range of a
community school like Cradle Hill, the local authority must first publish a statutory notice
in accordance with the regulations, providing interested parties with a further
opportunity to comment on/object to the proposal.
3.2
It is intended that the statutory notice would be published on the local authority’s
website in October 2021. The notice would also be published in the local newspaper
and posted on the entrances to the school. Publication of the notice would trigger a
four-week period of representation during which interested parties could comment
further on the proposal.
3.3
The local authority has a duty to determine each proposal within two months of
the end of the representation period. We anticipate a final decision on the proposal
would be taken at the Lead Member for Education and Inclusion, Special Educational
Needs and Disability meeting in December 2021.
4.

Conclusion and reasons for recommendations

4.1
The proposal to lower the age range at Cradle Hill Community Primary School
from 4-11 to 2-11 would enable nursery provision to be re-established on the school
site. It would support the governing board’s vision to integrate, fully, nursery provision
into the Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) to offer high quality early education to
families in the local area.
4.2
Feedback from the initial consultation was positive, with all respondents
supportive of the proposal. A local needs survey also indicated local support for
nursery provision on the school site.
4.3

For these reasons the Lead Member is recommended to:
1) authorise the publication of a statutory notice in respect of a proposal to lower
the age range at Cradle Hill Community Primary School from 4-11 to 2-11. The
proposal is to take effect from 1 April 2022; and

Page 50

2) delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to amend the proposal
prior to its publication, if required.

ALISON JEFFERY
Director of Children’s Services
Contact Officer: Gary Langford
Tel. No. 07584 262521
Email: gary.langford@eastsussex.gov.uk

LOCAL MEMBERS
Councillor Sam Adeniji

Page 51

This page is intentionally left blank

